# Trees, carbon & sustainability

An empirical model of carbon sequestration in the Royal Botanic Gardens Melbourne



DIFFERENCE MAKERS™



## Contents

Foreword	3
Introduction	4
Sustainability reporting	5
Carbon and trees	6
Royal Botanic Gardens Melbourne	7
Research approach and results	8
Model for accountants	11
Discussion	
Conclusion	13
End notes	14
Acknowledgements	15
Contacts	

**» Sustainability** – avoidance of the depletion of natural resources in order to maintain an ecological balance.

"The pursuit of global environmental sustainability"

## Foreword



Karen McWilliams FCA Business Reform Leader Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand

Governments and businesses around the world are stepping up their response to the climate crisis and stating their intentions to become carbon neutral. Increasingly, large companies are reporting on their efforts to make their businesses sustainable.

An increase in adoption of the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) amongst organisations worldwide and recent commitments from New Zealand and the United Kingdom to mandate these disclosures for certain entities, suggest the appetite for sustainability reporting is gathering momentum.

Our February 2020 call to action explained the significant role the accountancy profession can play in achieving both climate change mitigation and adaptation at individual business, industry sector and economy-wide levels. Professional accountants can ensure transparency and appropriate disclosure around climate-related risks and opportunities, which in turn will help to maintain financial stability.

They can also support sustainable decision-making within the organisations they work for by allocating budgets and resources, and by developing high quality and timely information and insights through measurement and disclosure, built on robust and transparent accounting systems.

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand is pleased to have partnered with the University of Melbourne and the Royal Botanic Gardens of Melbourne on the research project described in this document. As a multiyear project, funded by the Australian Research Council, it is excellent to see the results come through at such a critical time.

The insights from this research will provide important data to inform both the disclosure and the decision making which underpins it. For example, information on the carbon sequestration of trees by age and species can help organisations make better decisions as to the carbon benefit from their natural assets. The results can also influence urban design and planning as cities seek to grow sustainably.

As influential members of every sector of the economy, professional accountants are uniquely positioned to help affect meaningful and positive change in a collective effort. This project provides important data to help them play their crucial role in addressing climate change.

## Introduction

As custodians of external reporting and central caretakers of governance practices in any organisation, accountants are increasingly playing a vital role in what was once unfamiliar territory – reporting on sustainability.

Accountants need new knowledge to apply their skills to work in increasingly technical areas, such as calculating an organisation's carbon footprint, and to open up their work to new opportunities for collaboration across diverse disciplines.

This document is the result of one such unique collaboration, involving researchers at the School of Ecosystem and Forest Science and the Department of Accounting at the University of Melbourne, as well as the Royal Botanic Gardens of Melbourne (RBGM).

Their research, the first comprehensive study of its kind in an Australian urban environment, focused on understanding how much carbon is sequestered by different tree species as they grow. Their goal was to help organisations, and more specifically, the RBGM, understand how to measure, manage and report on carbon sequestration.

As the climate crisis makes sustainability reporting more urgent, this research provides a model to accurately account for the quantity of carbon sequestered by a variety of tree species of different ages.

Trees are a vital store of carbon and their protection and growth can contribute to organisations reducing their carbon footprint and ultimately becoming carbon neutral.

This project also demonstrates the tangible benefits that can be achieved when accountants collaborate across disciplines. They can enhance their ability to report accurately on activities that tackle some of the world's biggest challenges.



Associate Professor Brad Potter CA, left, and Professor Ian Woodrow of the University of Melbourne

## Sustainability reporting

Sustainability reporting involves providing an assessment of a company's economic, environmental and social impact as a result of its everyday activities.

Accountants can help companies measure, understand and communicate how sustainable their activities are. They can help organisations set targets to become more sustainable, and provide assurance that an organisation is meeting the standards adopted by governments, regulators or investors.

Sustainability reports can vary widely across companies, ranging from completely customised reports to others that strictly adhere to established reporting frameworks.

Comprehensive sustainability frameworks and accompanying guidelines have been developed by several international organisations.<sup>1</sup>

While there is currently no single, universally recognised "global" sustainability framework, the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) has been implemented by organisations worldwide and is focused on providing sustainability information to a wide range of interested parties.

Other frameworks and approaches, such as Integrated Reporting and the TCFD recommendations are focused on specific stakeholder groups, in both cases, external providers of capital.

Notwithstanding, there is growing alignment across many of these frameworks. Additionally, the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) Foundation Trustees have recently announced they are considering whether to establish a Sustainability Standards Board.

### Why do sustainability reporting?

Historically, companies voluntarily publishing sustainability reports may have depended on the cost associated with reporting and anticipated reactions to the information disclosed. But the voluntary nature of sustainability reporting is changing. Some countries have adopted a 'comply or explain' approach in which organisations need to disclose sustainability-related information or explain why they do not. The European Union, Australia, Canada, South Africa, and India have taken this approach.

Other countries, such as Japan, China, Indonesia, and Thailand, have now mandated this type of information disclosure but there is still significant variation in the exact nature and extent of these types of disclosures and there is no generally agreed reporting framework.

The credibility associated with financial reports is largely due to the requirement that they be audited. The practice of independent verification or assurance of sustainability reports is still evolving.

### Assurance reporting

Most of the world's 250 largest companies periodically produce assurance of sustainability reporting containing carbon information and also obtain assurance on these reports.<sup>2</sup> However, auditors continually face issues with the underlying quality of the information and this also affects the level of assurance they can provide.

The most common framework for providing assurance on sustainability reporting is through the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000 'Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information'. This standard allows two options for assurance engagement and reporting:

- 'reasonable assurance engagement' where assurance is positive
- 'limited assurance engagement' where assurance is negative.

## Carbon and trees

Trees make an invaluable contribution to reducing the rate of climate change by mitigating carbon dioxide accumulation in the atmosphere. Through photosynthesis, trees act as a carbon sink and absorb atmospheric carbon dioxide.

The process of trees absorbing carbon dioxide as a gas and storing it in solid or liquid form as a plant substance is called 'carbon sequestration'.

An estimated 45 per cent of the earth's carbon is stored in forests which cover 30 per cent of the Earth's land mass.<sup>3</sup> Deforestation is markedly reducing the capacity of forests to sequester carbon. This is offset to a certain degree by natural and plantation-based re-growth of trees.

Some of these trees are grown outside forests on agricultural land and in urban parks and gardens. Trees in an urban environment also reduce noise, improve air quality, moderate storm water damage and reduce air temperature. Data on urban trees in Australia has been lacking. Most research into tree carbon is US-centric, and research in Australia and New Zealand has typically focused on plantations.

By understanding the total ecosystem in terms of tonnes of carbon dioxide absorbed on a continuous basis as a basic measure, environmental economists could consider valuing and monetising this impact. The usefulness of this information comes from the fact that it can be integrated with costs and other benefits on operating an entity to derive the total impact on an economy.



## Royal Botanic Gardens Melbourne

In a unique collaboration, researchers from the University of Melbourne's departments of eco-system and forest science and accounting worked with the Royal Botanic Gardens Melbourne (RBGM) to understand how to capture, manage and report on carbon storage and sequestration.

The Melbourne Gardens, one of two botanic gardens managed by Royal Botanic Gardens of Victoria, were established in 1846 on a 38 hectare site on the south side of the Yarra River.

The Gardens have 11 main lawns with grass and garden beds taking up a significant area. It also includes five hectares of ornamental lakes. About 6,000 trees are clustered within groups and some are scattered in lawn areas. About 40 per cent of tree species are native.

The total pool of carbon in the Gardens consists of trees, the garden beds with associated plants and mulch, the lakes (including wetlands), and the lawns. Underlying all of these is a layer of soil and sediment in which carbon is stored through decomposition and root activities.

Photo by Malin on Unsplash

## Research approach and results

### Measurement of the total carbon pool

Researchers estimated the carbon content of the major repositories of carbon in the RBGM and discovered trees were by far the most important contributing 75 per cent. Garden beds contributed 15 per cent, lawns 8 per cent and lakes 1.4 per cent respectively.

Next, the researchers focused on which species of trees sequestered the most carbon so they chose a representative sample of all the trees in the RBGM.

Using surveys conducted in 1991 and 2014, researchers applied allometric growth models to each tree group to determine carbon accumulation, including:

- Conifers (native and non-native)
- Rainforest trees (native and non-native)
- Australian evergreens (native)
- Deciduous trees (largely non-native)
- Palms (native and non-native)

## The four major components to the total carbon pool at RBGM



### Measurement of the trees

Students from the University of Melbourne's School of Botany took contemporary tree measurements. They measured trunk diameter at breast height (DBH) 1.37 m above ground level and tree height (H), using a specialised tape to estimate the DBH and a TruPulse 360 laser rangefinder to measure the height of the trees.

Researchers from both accounting and botany departments analysed the data. Their first step was to compute the aboveground mass of trees using allometric equations and models.

- For trees in the deciduous, evergreen and conifer groups, the researchers used volumetric equations developed for 15 species of Californian street trees.<sup>4</sup>
- For trees in the rainforest group, they used a dry rainforest biomass regression<sup>5</sup> because most of the trees belonging to this group in the RBGM were in relatively dense stands. However, as those dense stands are not as dense as in a typical rainforest, a factor of dilution of 0.8 was applied.
- Researchers assumed palms stems were cylindrical to compute the palm mass.<sup>6</sup>

Having estimated the trees' volumes, the researchers then used wood densities to convert volume to mass. Speciesspecific wood density values or a genus average wood density were obtained from two wood density databases.<sup>7</sup>

## Research approach and results (continued)

### Total tree mass

The total biomass of each tree was then divided into three components, considering ground level as the dividing point. Total tree biomass = leaf mass + trunk/branch mass + below-ground (root) mass. Different proportions were obtained from published values for each of the five different types of trees.

### Carbon absorption

The next step was to evaluate how much carbon each tree had absorbed during its growth. The amount of carbon in all trees is taken as 50 per cent of its mass, based on a comprehensive study conducted covering several tree categories.<sup>8</sup>

Knowing the mass of trees at two fixed points, namely in 1991 and 2014, as derived from the above calculations, the mean absolute growth rate (AGR) and relative growth rate (RGR) of trees could be estimated, as follows:

 $AGR = \frac{M_{2014} - M_{1991}}{(2014 - 1991)}$   $RGR = \frac{(\ln [M2014] - \ln [M1991])}{(2014 - 1991)}$ 

Given that carbon is about half of tree biomass, the average rate of carbon accumulation by trees will be half of the AGR. The average relative carbon accumulation rate, however, will be equal to RGR.





### Is RBGM carbon neutral?

By assessing figures extracted from the annual report of RBGM, researchers discovered that RBGM produced 1,308 tonnes per year emissions from its own operation, as shown in the table.

Source	Total consumption of carbon (tonnes per year)
Electricity	949
Gas	337
Diesel	14
Petrol	8
Total	1308

After the 272 tonnes per year uptake from sequestration is taken into consideration – despite the relatively efficient contribution of tree growth to productivity – the Gardens still have a deficit of 1,036 tonnes per year and are a net carbon emitter. Significant reductions in fuel use or a change to renewable sources would bring the balance to zero, or even carbon positive.

## Model for accountants

### Expanding the results of the sample to the population

The calculations of the carbon accumulation rate for a number of trees within each of the five categories allows a reliable estimate to be made for the entire tree population in the RBGM, assuming that the sub-samples in the five groups used here are indicative of the larger population.

The validity of this assumption is difficult to judge with absolute certainty because the Gardens didn't keep records of planting dates for most trees and palms. Nevertheless, if the current estimates of carbon uptake are simply adjusted proportionally to encompass the entire Gardens, then an estimate of the total carbon uptake rate of the five groups can be made. Given that individual trees in the five groups account for over 95 per cent of the tree species in the RBGM, this value can be scaled up some five per cent more to yield an RBGM tree estimate.

Using the measured relationship between tree mass and growth rate and a scaling theory that relative growth rate (RGR) is inversely proportional to above ground tree mass to the power  $0.25^9$  researchers then developed a temporal equation for growth of trees for each of the four non-palm groups.

This empirical equation allows accountants to predict the carbon content of a tree at any time after planting. Analysis of the k values indicated that trees from the four non-palm groups will generally grow at a similar rate; however, significantly higher k values – and predicted carbon accumulation rates – were detected for a group of faster growing eucalyptus (from the Evergreen group) and the Kauri pines (Agathis spp., from the Conifer group).

The palms' growth is less complicated to model because researchers found little evidence that RGR is a function of mass as predicted by scaling theory, so they made predictions using a constant RGR.

Researchers validated the model using trees with known planting dates. Trees from each of the categories were selected for the validation, including the oldest planted trees in the RBGM – two English elms planted in 1846.

Using this equation, accountants can more accurately determine how much carbon a tree captures as it grows. It enables much greater confidence in the result, and means accountants have an empirical dimension to enhance their capability to report on carbon sequestration.

The equation for carbon content (Cc) was:

$$Cc = 0.63 \left(\frac{kt}{4} + Mi^{0.254}\right)^4$$

where t is time, Mi is the mass of the tree for which a prediction is to be made (in the case of a newly planted tree, it is the seedling mass) and k is a constant that is specific for each of the tree groups.

## Discussion

### High carbon density and carbon accumulation

The measurements indicate that the RBGM stores an exceptionally high amount of carbon compared to other urban ecosystems.

The researchers estimate that the carbon density of the RBGM is about 493 tonnes carbon per ha, which is much higher than US city-wide estimates ranging from 5.02 tonnes carbon per ha in Jersey City to 47 tonnes carbon per ha in Sacramento.<sup>10</sup>

The RBGM carbon density is higher than many managed zones within urban areas such as the most carbon dense areas of Leipzig, Germany, where the urban woodlands, with an average density of 81 tonnes carbon per ha, and the riparian forests with a slightly higher density of 98 tonnes carbon per ha.<sup>11</sup>

The RBGM carbon density is more comparable to forests. For example a managed eucalypt forest in Kioloa, NSW was estimated to have a carbon density of about 275 tonnes carbon per ha<sup>12</sup>, whereas mature Eucalyptus regnans (mountain ash) forests – the most carbon dense forests in the world – can store some 1,870 tonnes carbon per ha.<sup>13</sup> Clearly, large trees at high density are important for carbon density.

Similarly, the rate of carbon accumulation in the RBGM of about 7.2 tonnes of carbon per ha per year is also high relative to other urban environments. For example, accumulation rates for two cities in the USA – Jersey City and Atlanta – were estimated to be 0.2 and 1.2 tonnes carbon per ha per year, respectively.<sup>14</sup> A neighbourhood in Singapore, which included private gardens, street trees and public parks had a higher rate of 5.1 tonnes carbon per ha per year.

#### Larger trees = more carbon uptake

Another very important finding is the age of the trees. The results of this project shows the largest trees take up carbon the fastest and their level of carbon sequestration will continue to grow as the tree population ages. Trees with exceptionally high rates of growth (in excess of 500 kg per year) are all exceptionally large. These differing levels of growth and carbon sequestration need to be taken into account in decision making.

As a consequence, any factor that causes tree loss, especially affecting very large trees, would have a significant impact on the rate of carbon sequestration in the RBGM. The loss of a large tree brings about a loss of not only the carbon stored over its lifetime but also its future capacity to take in carbon.

Of course, tree loss happens for many reasons, such as natural mortality, management decisions to remove a tree or a species and natural disasters such as storm damage.



The results of this study reinforce the need to manage trees carefully. Replacing a large tree with a small tree has significant consequences because it will take many years - up to 150 years for some trees in the RBGM - for the tree to reach the carbon sequestration rate of its large counterpart.

## Conclusion

A key impact of the RBGM study is that we now have a better understanding of the carbon sequestered as trees grow, with carbon models and measurements based on more than 25 years of tree data. This means accountants can now more faithfully represent the actual capture of carbon that occurs when trees grow and the resulting reporting occurs with significantly reduced measurement error. With this enhanced empirical dimension underpinning future carbon reporting, greater opportunities for higher levels of assurance may emerge in the future.

### Assets and income

This study is also important for accountants working on financial reporting disclosure and recognition of agricultural assets, such as trees and other plants and their ability to capture carbon. For nearly two decades, International Accounting Standard (IAS) 41 Agriculture has required biological assets to be measured initially and at each balance date at their fair value less costs to sell, with changes in those values reported as gains or losses in the calculation of periodic profit or loss.



'This research is important for organisations looking to manage their carbon footprint. They can now make more informed decisions as to which trees to plant. For accountants with regional clients, this research enables them to better estimate the fair value of some agricultural assets and the carbon stored. This will be important for future discussions.'

- Associate Professor Brad Potter CA, University of Melbourne

Because of the subjectivity and risk involved in the measurement calculations, accountants' reporting of fair values for these types of assets has been problematic, with the requirement to recognise increments and decrements in fair values as gains or losses in calculating profit or loss seemingly the most contentious aspect.<sup>15</sup> With a more precise understanding of the carbon stored in these types of assets over time, accountants now have a greater understanding of a key component of the financial value of these assets, potentially enabling more informed estimates of their fair value in the future.

More specifically, improved measurement of carbon capture could enable creation by entities of Australian Carbon Credit Units (ACCUs) under the Australian Government's Emissions Reduction Fund.

Where this occurs, there is potential for the recognition of additional assets in financial reports in the form of ACCUs. Where those ACCUs are subsequently sold, current and future period income may be affected.

#### Information systems

This research also shows the importance of information systems. When the RBGM collected tree data in 1991, they never knew how it could be used in the future. After researchers collected more comparable data 25 years later, they were then able to develop the models in this study. This illustrates the crucial need for organisations to have robust information systems that identify, capture and store large amounts of data. The availability of historical data on trees in the Gardens, provided a longer time series of data for modelling and subsequent validation.

The carbon measures produced by the researchers' models enable the reporting of carbon information that more faithfully represents actual carbon capture, this can also assist approaches to assurance of sustainability reporting.

## End notes

1 These include:

- United Nations (UN) Global Compact
- Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (MNEs)
- International Standard Organization (ISO)'s ISO Guideline on Environmental Performance (ISO 14001) and Guidance on Social Responsibility (ISO26000)
- International Integrated Reporting Council's (IIRC) Integrated Reporting (<IR>) Framework
- <u>Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) recom-</u> mendations
- Sustainability Accounting Standards Board's supplemental disclosures for financial statements
- 2 The 2020 KPMG Survey of Sustainability Reporting found almost all (96%) of the world's largest 250 companies (the G250) report on their sustainability performance. For the N100 –5,200 companies comprising the largest 100 firms in 52 countries – 80% do so. (source: GRI)
- 3 Lindquist, E. J., D'Annunzio, R., Gerrand, A., MacDicken, K., Achard, F., Beuchle, R., . . . San-Miguel-Ayanz, J. (2012). Global forest land-use change 1990-2005: FAO, Rome.
- 4 Pillsbury, N. H., Reimer, J. L., & Thompson, R. P. (1998). Tree volume equations for fifteen urban species in California.
- 5 Chave, J., Condit, R., Aguilar, S., Hernandez, A., Lao, S., & Perez, R. (2004). Error propagation and scaling for tropical forest biomass estimates. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 359(1443), 409-420.

- 6 Brown, S. (1997). Estimating Biomass and Biomass Change of Tropical Forests: a Primer. Rome, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. FAO Forestry Paper - 134.
- 7 https://azkurs.org/pars\_docs/refs/28/27323/27323.pdf
- 8 Adam, R. M., & Sean, C. T. (2012). Carbon Content of Tree Tissues: A Synthesis. Forests, 3 (2), 332-352.
- 9 Enquist, B. J., West, G.B., Charnov, E.L. & Brown, J.H. (1999). Allometric scaling of production and life-history variation in vascular plants. Nature, 401(6756), 907-911.
- 10 Nowak, D. J. & Crane, D.E. (2002). Carbon storage and sequestration by urban trees in the USA. Environmental Pollution 116(3): 381-389.
- 11 Strohbach, M. W. & Haase, D. (2012). Above-ground carbon storage by urban trees in Leipzig, Germany: Analysis of patterns in a European city. Landscape and Urban Planning 104(1): 95-104.
- 12 Chen, X., Hutley, L. B. & Eamus, D. (2003). Carbon balance of a tropical savanna of northern Australia. Oecologia, 137, 405-416.
- 13 Keith, H., Mackey, B. G. & Lindenmayer, D. B. (2009). Re-evaluation of forest biomass carbon stocks and lessons from the world's most carbon-dense forests. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106, 11635-11640
- 14 Nowak, D. J. & Crane, D.E. 2002
- 15 Argilés, J.M., Garcia-Blandon, J. and T. Monllau. (2011). Fair Value Versus Historical Cost-Based Valuation for Biological Assets: Predictability of Financial Information. Spanish Accounting Review 14 (2): 87-113

## Acknowledgements



Associate Professor Brad Potter CA



Professor Naomi Soderstrom



Professor Ian Woodrow

This report is based on research and insights of Professor Naomi Soderstrom and Associate Professor Brad Potter of the Department of Accounting at the University of Melbourne in collaboration with the School of BioSciences' Professor Ian Woodrow, Professor Paul Coram of the University of Adelaide, Professor David Cantrill at the Royal Botanic Gardens Victoria and Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand. The research was funded as part of a three-year Australian Research Council (ARC) Linkage project. The Linkage Program promotes research partnerships between researchers and business, industry, community organisations and other publicly funded research agencies. By supporting the development of partnerships, the ARC encourages the transfer of skills, knowledge and ideas as a basis for securing commercial and other benefits of research.

## Contacts

### **Australia**

1300 137 322 +61 2 9290 5660 (outside of Australia)

6am-8pm (AEST) Monday - Friday (excl. Public Holidays)

service@charteredaccountantsanz.com

### **New Zealand**

0800 4 69422 +64 4 474 7840 (outside of New Zealand)

8am-10pm (NZ time) Monday - Friday (excl. Public Holidays)

<u>service@charteredaccountantsanz.com</u> <u>https://www.charteredaccountantsanz.com/contact-us</u>

### About

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand (CA ANZ) represents more than 128,000 financial professionals, supporting them to make a difference to the businesses, organisations and communities in which they work and live. Chartered Accountants are known as Difference Makers. The depth and breadth of their expertise helps them to see the big picture and chart the best course of action.

CA ANZ promotes the Chartered Accountant (CA) designation and high ethical standards, delivers world-class services and life-long education to members and advocates for the public good. We protect the reputation of the designation by ensuring members continue to comply with a code of ethics, backed by a robust discipline process. We also monitor Chartered Accountants who offer services directly to the public.

Our flagship CA Program, the pathway to becoming a Chartered Accountant, combines rigorous education with practical experience. Ongoing professional development helps members shape business decisions and remain relevant in a changing world.

We actively engage with governments, regulators and standard-setters on behalf of members and the profession to advocate in the public interest. Our thought leadership promotes prosperity in Australia and New Zealand.

Our support of the profession extends to affiliations with international accounting organisations.

We are a member of the International Federation of Accountants and are connected globally through Chartered Accountants Worldwide and the Global Accounting Alliance. Chartered Accountants Worldwide brings together members of 13 chartered accounting institutes to create a community of more than 1.8 million Chartered Accountants and students in more than 190 countries. CA ANZ is a founding member of the Global Accounting Alliance which is made up of 10 leading accounting bodies that together promote quality services, share information and collaborate on important international issues.

We also have a strategic alliance with the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. The alliance represents more than 870,000 current and next generation accounting professionals across 179 countries and is one of the largest accounting alliances in the world providing the full range of accounting qualifications.

### **Disclaimer and Copyright statements**

This publication is intended to provide general information and is not intended to provide or substitute legal or professional advice.

This publication has been prepared so that is current as at the date of writing. You should be aware that such information can rapidly become out of date. You should not act, or refrain from acting, or rely on any statement, view or opinion expressed in this publication. You should make and rely on your own inquiries in making any decisions or giving any advice. No warranty is given as to the correctness of the information contained in this publication, or of its suitability for use by you. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand (CA ANZ) is not liable for any statement or opinion, or for any error or omission contained in this publication and disclaims all warranties with regard to the information contained in it, including, without limitation, all implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose. CA ANZ is not liable for any direct, information contained in it, including, without limitation, or loss of profit, loss or corruption of data, business interruption or indirect costs, arising out of or in connection with the use of this publication or the information contained in it, whether such loss or damage arises in contract, negligence, tort, under statute, or otherwise. © 2021 Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand ABN 50 084 642 571. This publication is protected by copyright. Other than for the purposes of and in accordance with the Copyright Act 1968 (Cth) or Copyright Act 1994 (NZ, this publication may not be reproduced, adapted, published, stored in a retrieval system or communicated in whole or in part by any means without express prior written permission. ISBN: 978-0-6482276-7-0